IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

WESTERN NATIONAL MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY, A Minnesota Corporation

Appellant,

v.

WILLIAM HARRY RESH, an individual,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No. 82475 Electronically Filed District CoSepCa7e2021 09:15 a.m. A775815 Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Appellant, Western National Mutual Insurance Company ("WNMIC"), pursuant to NRAP 28(a), by and through its counsel, Kurt C. Faux, Esq. and Jordan F. Faux, Esq. of The Faux Law Group, hereby submits its Opening Brief.

DATED this 15th day of September, 2021.

THE FAUX LAW GROUP

By:

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

A. Basis For The Supreme Court's Jurisdiction

The Supreme Court has jurisdiction to review these final Orders pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1).

B. Timeliness Of The Appeal

This Appeal is timely. On April 14, 2021, the District Court certified that the Findings of Fact and Conclusion of Law and Order Granting Summary

Judgment and Order Granting Motion for Attorney's Fees and Costs as final pursuant to NRCP 54(b). The Notice of Appeal was filed thereafter on April 27, 2021.¹

C. Appeal Is From Final Orders

This Appeal is of the District Court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order Granting Summary Judgment and Order Granting Motion for Attorney's Fees and Costs. The District Court certified both Orders as final pursuant to NRCP 54(b).

WNMIC has standing to appeal both final Orders pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1).

¹ A more detailed description of the appellate procedural history is given in Section IV(B).

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

This case does not fall under any of the categories presumptively retained by the Supreme Court. The case falls under causes presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(b)(7) – Appeals from post-judgment orders in civil cases.

The Supreme Court should retain the case despite its presumptive assignment to the Court of Appeals because it is an appeal from final Orders – Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order Granting Summary Judgment and Order Granting Motion for Attorney's Fees and Costs—entered in an action or proceeding commenced in the court in which the judgments are rendered pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1).

The Motor Vehicle Dealer Bond statute, NRS 482.345 limits recovery from the bond to "consumers" which are defined as "any person who comes into possession of a vehicle as a final user for any purpose other than offering it for sale." NRS 482.345(10). The issue here is whether someone who consigns their vehicle for sale qualifies as a "consumer" as defined under NRS 482.345(10) and is therefore entitled to make a claim on a Motor Vehicle Dealer Bond. The District Court found that a consignor does fall under the statutory definition of "consumer" and granted Summary Judgment and Attorney's Fees and Costs in favor of Resh. (MSJ Order; Attny Fees and Costs Order). The issue is important as it is a

question of first impression in Nevada and can have a large impact on who may recover from Motor Vehicle Dealer Bonds. The Nevada legislature limited recovery from Motor Vehicle Dealer Bonds to consumers and expanding the bond language to include consignors frustrates the purposes of the statute and expands coverage beyond what was reasonably expected by the surety when it issued the bond.

III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

Whether a consignor qualifies as "any person who comes into possession of a vehicle as a final user for any purpose other than offering it for sale" (a consumer) such that the consignor may make claim upon the Bond? NRS 482.345(10).

Whether a consignor is a consumer that can recover attorney fees and costs from a Motor Vehicle Dealer Bond?

Whether the District Court erred in granting summary judgment and attorney fees and costs to consignor on a claim against a Motor Vehicle Dealer Bond?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature Of Case

This is an issue of first impression regarding the interpretation of the term "consumer" in the Motor Vehicle Industry License Bond statute, NRS 482.345.

This matter involves a claim by a consignor against a Motor Vehicle Dealer Bond.

Only consumers may make claim upon the Bond, (NRS 482.345(5)). The issue is whether a consignor qualifies as a consumer under the statute. The statute defines "consumer" as "any person who comes into possession of a vehicle as a final user for any purpose other than offering it for sale." WNMIC asserts that there are no circumstances wherein a consignor can fall within this definition because the ultimate purpose of consignment is to dispossess the consignor and offer the Vehicle for sale to a different user. Further, there is already another statutory scheme in place to protect consignors.

The District Court did not agree with WNMIC. If Respondent Resh is not a consumer, then he is not entitled to recover any amounts for any losses from the Bond including any and all amounts for attorney fees and costs.

B. Course Of Proceedings And Disposition Below

The main dispute is whether Resh qualifies as a "consumer" as defined by NRS 482.345(10), as only a "consumer" is entitled to make a claim upon the Bond. The statute defines a "consumer" as "any person who comes into possession of a

vehicle as a final user for any purpose other than offering it for sale." WNMIC has at all times asserted that Resh is not a consumer because his sole purpose in forming a relationship with Compadres was to offer his Vehicle for sale. For this reason, Resh is not entitled to recover from the Bond either for his losses or his attorney fees and costs.

Motion to Dismiss

WNMIC filed a Motion to Dismiss and Motion for Attorney Fees and Costs, requesting the District Court dismiss Resh's claim against the Bond and find that Resh does not meet the definition of a "consumer" because he is not the final user of the Vehicle and his purpose in forming a relationship with Compadres was to offer the Vehicle for sale at auction. Resh opposed, arguing that he was a "consumer" injured by Compadres Auto Sales and therefore a demand upon the Bond for compensation was proper.

The District Court ruled in favor of Resh, finding that Resh falls within the definition of "consumer" as set forth at NRS 482.345 and he intended to be the final user of the Vehicle, despite Resh's admission that the purpose of consigning it at auction was to sell the Vehicle, i.e., to not be a user of the Vehicle at all.

Offer of Judgment

Resh submitted an offer of judgment to be entered against WNMIC and in favor of Resh in the total penal sum amount of \$100,000.00. WNMIC rejected the

offer because Resh is not a consumer and therefore not entitled to make claim upon the Bond. Resh is not a consumer because his purpose was to consign the Vehicle for sale at auction and not to possess the Vehicle as a final user for any purpose other than offering the Vehicle for sale.

Motion for Summary Judgment

Resh filed a Motion for Summary Judgment against WNMIC seeking an order by the District Court that Resh falls under the statutory definition of a "consumer" and is therefore entitled to make claim upon the Bond.

WNMIC opposed, reiterating its position that Resh does not meet the definition of "consumer" under the Bond statute because Resh's goal was to dispossess himself of the Vehicle, transfer the title and possession to a new user, and sell the Vehicle at auction. As a result, Resh was not a consumer because he was not in possession of the Vehicle as a final user for any purpose other than offering it for sale.

The District Court granted summary judgment in favor of Resh and against WNMIC in the amount of \$100,000.00, the penal sum of the Bond, finding that Resh was a "consumer" as set forth at NRS 482.345 and he intended to be the final user of the Vehicle ("Liability Judgment").

Motion for Attorney's Fees and Costs

Resh filed for Attorney's Fees and Costs under NRCP 68 for WNMIC's rejection of the Offer of Judgment; under NRS 18.010 to punish WNMIC for the alleged frivolous or vexatious claims and defenses against Resh; and under NRS 17.130(2) for interest as a prevailing party in this litigation. WNMIC objected.

The District Court granted Resh's Motion for Attorney's Fees and Costs based on only NRCP 68 and reference to the *Brunzell* factors of *Brunzell v. Golden Gate National Bank* factors (85 Nev. 345, 455 P.2d 31 (1969). Judgment was entered against WNMIC in the amount of \$31,565.62 in fees and \$2,666.65 in costs ("Fee Judgment").

Appeals

WNMIC timely appealed both the Liability Judgment and Fee Judgment. The Nevada Supreme Court ordered dismissal of WNMIC's initial appeal of the Liability Judgment for a jurisdictional defect stating that Resh's claims against Compadres Auto Sales and Mr. Legaspi remained pending in the District Court such that the District Court's Liability Judgment was not final and therefore not appealable.

The parties then stipulated to have both the Liability Judgment and Fee Judgment certified as final pursuant to NRCP 54(b).

The District Court granted NRCP 54(b) certification of finality of both the Liability Judgment and Fee Judgment.

The Nevada Supreme Court subsequently consolidated WNMIC's appeals to form the instant Appeal.

V. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The facts were not and are not largely in dispute:

- 1) Dr. Resh was the owner of a 2017 Audi R8 automobile (hereinafter referred to as his "Vehicle"), VIN No. WUAKBAFX0H7903087. JA 00256 at ¶4.
- 2) In February and March 2018, Dr. Resh attempted to sell his Vehicle through auction with the assistance of a family friend, Robert Larson. JA 00256 at ¶5.
- 3) In order to sell Dr. Resh's Vehicle at auction, Robert Larson registered the Vehicle under the auto dealership known as Money Machine, LLC, d/b/a Compadres Auto Sales (hereinafter referred to as "Compadres"). JA 00258 at ¶¶5, 6.
- 4) In order to sell the Vehicle through the auction house known as Manheim, Robert Larson took the title to Dr Resh's Vehicle and the keys to Manheim. *Id*.
- 5) Dr. Resh's Vehicle sold at auction by Manheim for the sum of \$145,000. JA 00271.
- 6) Manheim prepared a check for \$143,895 made payable to Compadres and the check was given to Robert Larson. JA 00258 at ¶10.

- 7) Robert Larson personally delivered that check in mid-March 2018 to Ryan Najarro, general manager for Compadres, who he had worked with before. JA 00258 at ¶11.
- 8) Compadres deposited the check for \$143,895 into its bank account. JA 00293, 00294.
- 9) . Despite repeated demands, Compadres never paid Dr. Resh any of the sales proceeds for his Vehicle. JA 00256 ¶10.
- 10) Defendant Western National Mutual Insurance Company (hereinafter referred to as ("WNMIC") furnished a Vehicle Industry License Bond for Compadres in the penal sum of \$100,000. JA 00262-00263.
- 11) Resh asserted claim upon the Bond, which WNMIC denied, and the lawsuit followed. JA 0067-0071.

VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Every car dealer in the State of Nevada is required to obtain a license bond in order to get a license to sell cars to the public. NRS 482.345. The bond is "for the use and benefit of the consumer" and is meant to protect consumers from breach of a consumer contract, deceptive trade practice, fraud, fraudulent representation or violation of any of the provisions of NRS 482, NRS 41, NRS 97, NRS 104, NRS 104A or NRS 598. NRS 482.345(5), (6). The statute defines

"consumer" as "any person who comes into possession of a vehicle as a final user for any purpose other than offering it for sale." NRS 482.345(10).

Here, WNMIC asserts that Resh is not a consumer. The facts here show that Resh formed his relationship with Compadres in order to dispossess himself of the Vehicle and find a new user via offering the Vehicle for sale at auction. JA 00256 at ¶5. The District Court ignored the plain language of the statute in order to find in favor of Dr. Resh. JA 00413-417.

Under the plain language of the statute, only "consumers" may assert a claim on the Bond and a "consumer" is not an individual whose purpose is to dispossess themselves of a vehicle to a new user by offering it for sale, such as a consigner. Resh used Mr. Larson to consign the Vehicle with Compadres Auto Sales for the purpose of selling the Vehicle at Manheim's auto auction. JA 00256 at ¶5, 6. The statute does not permit consignors to assert claims against the Bond, only consumers, and because Resh is not a consumer he is not entitled to the protection of the Bond nor entitled to recover from the Bond.

Further, there already is another statutory scheme set up for the protection of consignors such as Resh. NRS 482.31771—31776. Neither those sections nor the Bond entitle consignors to recover from Motor Vehicle Dealer License Bonds.

Only consumers may recover from said Bonds and a consignor does not qualify as

a consumer because a consignor is offering a vehicle for sale—the only proscribed act the disqualifies a person from being a consumer.

Because Resh is not entitled to recover from the Bond as a matter of law because he is not a consumer, he is also not entitled to recover attorney fees and costs from WNMIC under any legal theory.

VII. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A District Court's grant of summary judgment is reviewed de novo. *Wood v. Safeway*, 121 Nev. 724, 729 (Nev. 2005). The review is "without deference to the district court's findings." *Ges, Inc. v. Corbitt*, 117 Nev. 265, 268 (Nev. 2001) (citing *Caughlin Homeowners Ass'n v. Caughlin Club*, 109 Nev. 264, 266, 849 P.2d 310, 311 (1993). Summary judgment is appropriate and "shall be rendered forth-with" when the pleadings and other on file evidence demonstrates that no "genuine issue as to any material fact [remains] and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." *Wood*, 121 Nev. at 729; NRCP 56(c).

It has been noted by this Court that the review of motions for summary judgment along with the evidence and any reasonable inferences drawn, must all be viewed in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Id.*; *Lipps v. Southern Nevada Paving*, 116 Nev. 497, 498, 998 P.2d 1183, 1184 (2000) (citing *Butler v. Bogdanovich*, 101 Nev. 449, 451, 705 P.2d 662, 663 (1985)).

On appeal, this Court is "to determine whether the trial court erred in concluding that an absence of genuine issues of material fact justified its granting of summary judgment." *Lipps*, 116 Nev. at 499 (Nev. 2000) (quoting Bird v. Casa Royale West, 97 Nev. 67, 68, 624 P.2d 17, 18 (1981).

VIII. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. Resh Is Not a Consumer Under the Statute and Does Not Qualify As a Beneficiary of the Bond.

"[W]hen the language of a statute is plain and unambiguous, a court should give that language its ordinary meaning and not go beyond it. *Employers Ins. Co. of Nev. v. Chandler*, 117 Nev. 421, 425, 23 P.3d 255, 258 (2001). In conducting a plain language reading, we avoid an "interpretation that renders language meaningless or superfluous." *In re George J.*, 128 Nev. 345, 348, 279 P.3d 187, 190 (2012) (internal quotations omitted)." *Nev. Dep't of Corrs. v. York Claims Servs.*, 131 Nev. 199, 203, 348 P.3d 1010, 1013 (2015). When a statute is ambiguous the Court "may look to [its] legislative history to ascertain the Legislature's intent." *Potter v. Potter*, 121 Nev. 613, 616, 119 P.3d 1246, 1248 (2005).

The Bond is statutorily required in the State of Nevada to obtain a license as a motor vehicle dealer. The statute determines the Bond's metes and bounds.

NRS 482.345. Per the statute, the Bond is "for the use and benefit of the

consumer..." NRS 482.345(5), (6). The statute defines the term "consumer" as "any person who comes into possession of a vehicle as a final user for any purpose other than offering it for sale." NRS 482.345(10). Based on the plain language of the statute, the Bond is for the benefit of "consumers" only and no other entities or persons. Therefore, to qualify as a "consumer" under the statute and be entitled to make claim upon the individual must: 1) be the final user of the vehicle and; 2) possess the vehicle for any purpose other than offering it for sale.

Here, the ordinary language of the statute is not ambiguous. Resh's sole purpose in forming a relationship with Robert Larson and in turn Compadres, was to offer his Vehicle for sale. JA 00256 at ¶¶5-6. The only proscribed purpose in the definition of a "consumer" is to possess the Vehicle for any purpose other than offering it for sale. Here, Resh's purpose was to consign the Vehicle at Manheim and auction it off. JA 00256 at ¶5, 6. Resh in fact did sell the Vehicle. JA 00256 at ¶7. Resh is not a consumer under the plain language of NRS 482.345, is not entitled to recover from the Bond, and as a result is not entitled to recover attorney fees under any applicable legal theory. The District Court erred by concluding otherwise.

B. The Definition of Consumer in NRS 482.345(10) is Consistent With Other Nevada Consumer Protection Statutes

Other consumer protection statutes in Nevada also define a "consumer" as essentially the purchaser in a transaction, as that is the generally accepted definition of a "consumer." "Consumers" are not defined as sellers or consignors. For example, Nevada's deceptive trade practice statute defines a "consumer" in the automotive context as "a retail buyer who purchases a motor vehicle" or "a long-term lessee who leases a motor vehicle" "primarily for personal, family, or household use." NRS 598.9702.

Nevada's Uniform Commercial code defines a "consumer" as "a natural person who enters into a transaction primarily for personal, family or household purposes." NRS 104.1201(k). Nevada's laws regulating the sale of marijuana define a "consumer" as "a person who is 21 years of age or older who purchases marijuana or marijuana products for use by persons 21 years of age or older, but not for resale to others." NRS 453D.030(3).

Nevada's internet privacy laws define "consumer" as "a person who seeks or acquires, by purchase or lease, any good, service, money or credit for personal, family or household purposes from the Internet website or online service of an operator." Black's Law Dictionary defines "consumer" as "someone who buys

goods or services for personal, family, or household use, with no intention of resale."

C. The Definition of Consumer in NRS 482.345(10) is Consistent With that in Other Jurisdictions

Likewise, other courts have similarly defined "consumer" in various contexts. In Oklahoma, the Oklahoma Supreme Court defined the term "consumer" by citing several dictionary definitions and finding that if a person "is the end user of the good or service at issue, then that person is a "consumer" with respect to that particular transaction. Cont'l Res., Inc. v. Wolla Oilfield Servs. LLC, No. 20-cv-00200-PRW, at *8-9 (W.D. Okla. July 9, 2021). A California Court of Appeals said that a "consumer" is a person who buys or uses goods or services without intent to resell. Reilly v. InQuest Tech., Inc., 218 Cal. App. 4th 536, 548 (Cal. Ct. App. 2013). The Iowa Supreme Court concluded that the statutory language and legislature intended the statutory bond provision to indemnify only "consumers", citing to Blacks Law Dictionary 316 (6th ed. 1990) (alternatively defining consumer as a (1) "user of the final product," and (2) "buyer (other than for purposes of resale) of any consumer product"). United Fire Cas. Co. v. Acker, 541 N.W.2d 517, 519-20 (Iowa 1995).

Non-legal definitions also limit the definition of "consumer" to purchasers, not sellers. Merriam Webster's Dictionary defines "consumer" as "one that

utilizes economic goods." The Cambridge Dictionary defines "consumer" as "a person who buys goods or service for their own use." The Oxford English Dictionary defines "consumer" as "a person who purchases goods and services for personal use."

Here, the ordinary language of NRS 482.345 is not ambiguous. Only "consumers" may assert a claim and a "consumer" is not someone whose purpose is to offer the vehicle for sale, such as a consigner. Resh is not a consumer, is not entitled to make claim upon the Bond, and is not entitled to recover attorney fees and costs for pursuing his claim.

No fact or law supports Resh's claim in this matter. There are no definitions of "consumer" that include sellers or consignors such as Resh. The facts show that Resh does not meet the definition of a "consumer" under the Bond statute because he did not intend to become the final user of the Vehicle. Rather, Resh's intention was "to sell the aforementioned Vehicle through auction with the assistance of Robert Larson." JA 00256 at ¶5). Having a purpose of offering the Vehicle for sale appears to be the only proscribed purpose in the statute.

As such, by his own admission, Resh's intention was not to come into possession of the Vehicle as a final user for any purpose other than offering it for sale. Resh's purpose in his own words was "to sell" the Vehicle. JA 00256 at ¶5, 6. The purpose of any relationship Resh may have had with Compadres Auto

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