IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CASE NO.: 82475

WESTERN NATIONAL MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPAN NOV 1/20/21/20/21/20/21 p.m. CORPORATION

Electronically Filed Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

V.

WILLIAM HARRY RESH, AN INDIVIDUAL

Respondent.

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada (The Honorable Judge Eric Johnson)

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

SKLAR WILLIAMS PLLC Frederic I. Berkley, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 1798 David B. Barney, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 14681 410 South Rampart Boulevard, Suite 350 Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 Telephone: (702) 360-6000 Attorneys for Respondent

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

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

V. Summary of the Argument

WNMIC correctly points out in its Opening Brief that:

Every car dealer in the State of Nevada is required to obtain a license bond in order to get a license to sell cars to the public. NRS 482.345. The bond is "for the use of and benefit of the consumer" and is meant to protect consumers from breach of a consumer contract, deceptive

trade practice, fraud, fraudulent representation or violation of any of the provisions of NRS 482, NRS 41, NRS 97, NRS 104, NRS 104A or NRS 598. NRS 482.345(5)-(6). The statute defines a "consumer" as "any person who comes into possession of a vehicle as a final user for any purpose other than offering it for sale." NRS 482.345(10).

Opening Brief at 6-7 (emphasis added).

Dr. Resh is board-certified cardiologist with Nevada Heart and Vascular Center. When he acquired his 2017 Audi R8 automobile, he undoubtedly was a member of the general public and a consumer. He came into possession of that vehicle as a final user and did not come into possession of the vehicle in order to offer it for sale. Dr. Resh was not at any time in the business of buying and selling automobiles, and he was not a car dealership or other entity in the business of selling cars.

WNMIC's argument, simply put, is that a consumer who decides to sell his or her car is no longer a consumer entitled to the protections set forth at NRS Chapter 482. WNMIC argues that once Dr. Resh accepted the assistance of a family friend, Robert Larson, to sell his vehicle through auction, Dr. Resh became a "consignor" and a whole different statutory scheme comes into play. Even though there is absolutely no dispute that Compadres stole the sale proceeds of Dr. Resh's vehicle, WNMIC argues that Dr. Resh was no longer protected under NRS Chapter 482 and WNMIC could ignore its obligations under the Bond. In a nutshell, WNMIC's argument comes down to this: a consumer who offers his vehicle for sale becomes

disqualified from being a consumer and loses his/her protection from breach of the consumer contract, deceptive trade practice, fraud, fraudulent representation or violation of any of the provisions of NRS 482, NRS 41, NRS 97, NRS 104, NRS 104A or NRS 98. WNMIC then argues that since Dr. Resh is not a consumer, he also is not entitled to recover attorney's fees and costs under any legal theory.

But WNMIC's argument avoids the plain language of the operative statute, which is determinative of this issue. The operative statute, NRS 482.345(10), defines a consumer as "any person who comes into possession of a vehicle as a final user for any purpose other than offering it for sale." As such, the only relevant fact is whether Dr. Resh intended to sell the vehicle at the time he purchased it. But WNMIC has offered no evidence to that effect.

Instead, the only evidence in the record shows that Dr. Resh is a cardiologist, he asked a family friend to help him sell his vehicle, and he was never engaged in the business of buying and selling vehicles. Because Dr. Resh was clearly a consumer at the time he came into possession of the vehicle as a final user, he is entitled to the protections of a consumer under NRS 482.345(10), and WNMIC's appeal must fail.

VI. Standard of Review

There is no dispute as to the standard of review. As pointed out by WNMIC, a District Court's grant of Summary Judgment is reviewed de novo. *Wood v.*

Safeway, 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005). "Summary Judgment is appropriate and shall be rendered forthwith when the pleadings and other on file evidence demonstrates that no genuine issue as to any material fact [remains] and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." *Id.* (quoting NRCP 56(a); *Tucker v. Action Equip. and Scaffold Co.*, 113 Nev. 1349, 1353, 951 P.2d 1027, 1029 (1997), overruled on other grounds by Richards v. Republic Silver State Disposal, Inc., 122 Nev. 1213, 148 P.3d 684 (2006)).

Generally, this Court must determine whether the lower court erred in concluding that there were no genuine issues of material fact justifying the granting the Summary Judgment. In this case, there is no dispute that there are no genuine issues of material fact precluding Summary Judgment. The only issue on appeal is a question of law, specifically whether Dr. Resh lost his designation as "consumer" by attempting to sell his vehicle at auction.

The same is true with regard to the standard for reviewing the District Court's grant of attorney's fees to Dr. Resh. "Although a district court's decision regarding an award of attorney fees is generally reviewed for an abuse of discretion, where ... the decision implicates a question of law, the appropriate standard of review is de novo." See Gunderson v. D.R. Horton, Inc., 130 Nev. 67, 82, 319 P.3d 606, 616 (2014) (citing Thomas v. City of N. Las Vegas, 122 Nev. 82, 90, 127 P.3d 1057, 1063 (2006)). Because the issue of whether the grant of attorney's fees was appropriate

also turns on whether Dr. Resh was a "consumer," de novo review is appropriate for that issue as well.

VII. Legal Argument

A. Dr. Resh clearly falls under the definition of consumer and therefore qualifies as a beneficiary under the WNMIC Bond.

WNMIC cites the following language in its Opening Brief, from *Employers*Ins. Co. of Nev. v. Chandler, 117 Nev. 421, 425, 23 P.3d 255, 258 (2001):

When the language of the statute is plain and unambiguous, a court should give that language its ordinary meaning and not go beyond it.

Under NRS 482.345(10), the word "consumer" is defined as:

[A]ny person who comes into possession of a vehicle as a final user for any purpose other than offering it for sale.

NRS 482.345(10) (emphasis added).

WNMIC argues that the ordinary meaning of the statute is unambiguous. It then goes on to ignore the very language used in the statute. Whether someone is a consumer is determined when that person "comes into possession of a vehicle." Those are the words used in the statute. When Dr. Resh "came into possession of' his 2017 Audi R8 automobile, there is no evidence whatsoever that he did so for the purpose of offering it for sale. Dr. Resh is a Board-certified cardiologist with Nevada Heart and Vascular Center and is a member of the general public. There is no evidence, implication or inference that Dr. Resh came into possession of this vehicle for the purpose of selling it. On the contrary, the undisputed facts are that

Dr. Resh decided to sell his vehicle with the assistance of a family friend, Robert Larson. Based on the plain language of NRS 482.345(10), Dr. Resh is a person who came into possession of his vehicle as a final user for a purpose other than offering it for sale.

Since the statute in question is plain and unambiguous, it is clear that the lower court did not err in denying WNMIC's Motion to Dismiss and in granting Dr. Resh's Motion for Summary Judgment. Under the undisputed facts, Dr. Resh was consumer and was entitled to Judgment on the Bond, as well as his attorney's fees and costs. Despite the fact that WNMIC seems to admit that the language in the statute is plain and unambiguous, WNMIC goes on to devote the majority of its Opening Brief to discussing the legislative history of the statute and other sections of the Nevada Revised Statutes which are devoted to consignment agreements. As such, Dr. Resh is compelled to point out the fallacy of WNMIC's desperate attempts to avoid the language of the statute.

B. Definitions of consumer in other sections of the Nevada Revised Statutes are totally irrelevant.

WNMIC assiduously avoids discussing when the test of a consumer takes place. Once again, the statute specifically and unequivocally states that a court must look to when a person "comes into possession of a vehicle." When Dr. Resh came into possession of his 2017 Audi R8 automobile, there is absolutely no evidence that he did so with the intent of offering it for sale. Since WNMIC knows it cannot

explain away the words used in the statute, it devotes a great deal of time in its Opening Brief to arguing that other Nevada consumer protection statutes and statutes in other jurisdictions defining the term "consumer" should be substituted for the language in NRS 482.345(10).

The arguments raised by WNMIC basically take the position that a consumer can never be a seller. For example, WNMIC asserts the Nevada's deceptive trade practice statue defines a consumer as "a retail buyer who purchases a motor vehicle" or "a long-term lessee who leases a motor vehicle," "primarily for personal, family or household use." *See* Opening Brief at 11. While the statutes are inapposite, their definitions still describe Dr. Resh. Dr. Resh was a retail buyer who purchased his motor vehicle primarily for personal, family or household use. That is how Dr. Resh came into possession of the vehicle. There is nothing to suggest that Dr. Resh somehow magically lost his status as a consumer when he ultimately decided to sell his personal vehicle at auction.

WNMIC goes on to discuss Nevada's Uniform Commercial Code, Nevada laws regulating the sale of marijuana and Nevada's internet privacy laws. But none of those references in any way suggest that a consumer loses his status simply by attempting to dispose of what he has purchased.

WNMIC's citation of cases from other jurisdictions defining a consumer is equally unavailing. WNMIC's assertion that "[w]hether Resh is in the business of

buying and selling cars on a regular basis is not relevant," is belied by the language used in the statute. See Opening Brief at 14. The same is true for its assertion that "[w]hat is relevant is whether he was a 'consumer' under the Bond statute during this specific transaction." Id. Under the statute, the only relevant inquiry is whether Dr. Resh acquired the vehicle for the purpose of reselling it, and there is no evidence of such intent in this case.

In addition to the plain language of NRS 482.345(10) supporting the District Court's grant of Summary Judgment to Dr. Resh, the remaining language of NRS 482.345 supports the same conclusion. For example, NRS 482.345(5) provides that "It like undertaking on the bond is for the use and benefit of the consumer and includes any breach of a consumer contract, deceptive trade practice, fraud, fraudulent, representation or [specific statutory violations] by the representative of any licensed distributor or the salesperson of any licensed dealer, manufacturer," or other similar licensees. NRS 482.345(6) similarly provides that "[t]he bond must provide that it is for the use and benefit of any consumer of the dealer, distributor, [or other similar licensee], for any loss or damage established." Importantly, the statutory language does not limit the Bond's availability to a consumer's purchase of vehicles, as WNMIC suggests, but instead, it leaves broad the circumstances in which a consumer may be entitled to execute on the bond, including breach of a consumer contract or any fraudulent conduct. Because the statutory language of NRS 482.345 directly conflicts with WNMIC's reading of its "consumer" definition, WNMIC's proposed definition cannot stand. *See U.S. Design & Const. Corp. v. Int'l Broth. Of Elec. Workers*, 118 Nev. 458, 461-62, 50 P.3d 170, 172 (2002) (providing that "where . . . statutory language is ambiguous or otherwise unclear, the court will construe it according to that which [is] reasonable and public policy would indicate the legislature intended. Under such circumstances, the intent of the legislature may be determined by examining the entire statutory scheme") (internal quotations omitted).

C. The legislative history of NRS 482.345 absolutely supports the conclusion that Dr. Resh is a consumer.

WNMIC next argues that the legislative history should be looked at to determine the scope of the Bond's coverage. Before proceeding, Dr. Resh reminds this Court that if a statute is clear on its face, the Court will not look beyond its plain language. See *Zohar v. Zbiegien*, 120 Nev. 733, 737, 334 P.3d 402, 405 (2014) (citing *Wheble v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court*, 128 Nev. 119, 122, 272, P.3d 134, 137 (2012)). In Dr. Resh's opinion, this Court need not look beyond the plain language of NRS 482.345(10), to conclude that he is in fact a consumer.

In an abundance of caution, however, Dr. Resh is compelled to respond to this portion of the Opening Brief, which looks to the statute's legislative history. As set forth in *Zohar v. Zbiegien*, 120 Nev. at 737, 334 P.3d at 405:

[W]hen a statute is susceptible to more than one reasonable interpretation, it is ambiguous, and [the Court] must resolve that ambiguity by looking to the statute's legislative history and 'construing the statute in a manner that conforms to reason and public policy.

Since WNMIC has gone down this road, Dr. Resh welcomes the opportunity to discuss the legislative history of the statute at issue. NRS 482.345 previously stated that "any person" injured by the action of the dealer may apply for compensation under the bond. In *W. Sur. Co v. ADCO Credit, Inc.*, 127 Nev. 100, 251 P.3d 714 (2011), a finance company made a claim under the dealer bond. The finance company argued that under the plain meaning of the phrase "any person" it was a proper claimant and the statute was intended to extend protection to a class larger than simply consumers. *See id.* at 101-02, 251 P.3d at 715-16. The Nevada Supreme Court held that the defrauded finance company could make a claim under the bond under the plain language used in what was then NRS 482.345. *Id.* at 104-06, 251 P.3d at 716-18.

The Nevada Legislature in 2013 recognized that the bond was intended to protect consumers since there is other recourse available in other situations, such as with finance companies, which are unavailable to consumers. The Nevada legislature therefore modified the statute by changing the phrase "any person" to "consumers." The following exchanges that took place during the legislative hearings on this amendment before the Assembly Committee on Transportation are revealing:

Dan L. Wulz, Deputy Executive Direct, Legal Aid Center of Southern Nevada, Inc.:

"I have worked with Assemblyman Aizley in putting this bill together and also worked with the Legislative Counsel Bureau (LCB) on language. It was an issue I brought to Assemblyman Aizley's attention in light of the Nevada Supreme Court case that he mentioned. We are here to have the law say what I think most of us, including administrative law judges at the Department of Motor Vehicles (DMV), thought that the law meant. That is, that the bond was meant to protect consumers. So we are correcting an oversight which a Nevada Supreme Court case named *Western Surety Co. v. ADCO Credit, Inc.* [127 Nev. Adv. Op. No. 8, 251 P.3d 714 (2011)] made clear: that using the words "any person" in this statute means not just a consumer, but also a finance company can be a claimant under a dealer bond.

The bill, and my comments are with respect to the bill as proposed to be amended, presents a win-win-win opportunity. It is a win for surety bond companies, as they would only have to pay consumers. This should result in reduction of the premium for obtaining the surety bond. It is a win for car dealers. If the surety bond premium is reduced, then they have to pay a lower premium. It is a win for consumers. The entire bond will be available to satisfy only consumer claims. It is a win for the courts and DMV in administering the claims, as the bill brings clarity. The only entities that lose under the bill are creditors of car dealers like finance companies. Under the bill they can no longer make a claim on the bond. But dealer creditors have available to them other means of obtaining security. They can require a dealer to purchase a separate bond of some kind or put up collateral in their contract as a condition for doing business. So today after the Western Surety decision in the Nevada Supreme Court, we are here to correct an oversight.

Over the years, in amending the statute in 2001 and 2005, I believe it was always Assemblywoman Barbara Buckley's intent to make clear that the surety bond was for the protection of consumers, nor creditors or car dealers.

Minutes of the Meeting of the Assembly Committee on Transportation, 2013 Leg.,

77th Sess. 16-17 (Nev. Apr. 4, 2013) (emphasis added).

Assemblywoman Carlton:

I am looking at the definition of consumer. It means "any person who comes into possession of a vehicle as a final user for any purpose other than offering it for sale." Does that mean this goes from owner to owner to owner, because cars can have multiple owners?

Assemblyman Aizley:

I believe it means in the original transaction the consumer who buys from the auto agency or the seller, and that is it.

Assemblywoman Carlton:

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